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Boulston

(Boulston Lodge on maps to distinguish it from the Manor House ruins)

SM97431278     OS 25” 1st ed XXVIII.13       Boulston/Uzmaston

(Manor House Cadw Register as Old Hall)

16C - 17C  The Wogan family who provided nine High Sheriffs and one M.P.  The line died out and the estate went to relatives in Norfolk.   Farms tenanted.

1715  Manor house abandoned.  Estate soon sold.

1797
Estate purchased from Admiral Sir Charles Cotton by Major Dudley Ackland whose wife was Jane Innes of Dublin.

1798
New house built on higher land.

1809  Death of Major Dudley.

1813
Repairs to church  (plaque recorded 1900).

1814
Dudley - the eldest son? - killed in Spain.

1817
Robert Innes Ackland JP, DL, son of above, married Caroline, daughter of Admiral Sir Charles Tyler of Cottrell, Glamorgan.

1818
High Sheriff of Pembrokeshire.

1820
R.D.Ackland, son of above, born at Cottrell.

1831  (PRO) Legal proceedings re debts of £2,200 for food and drink at election.

1843  Boulston church rebuilt.

1847  R.D. Ackland married to Elizabeth Mary Lloyd, daughter of John Philipps Allen Lloyd-Philipps Esq. of Dale and Mabus (Ceredigion).

1851  Death of R.I. Ackland.

1900
Church roof reported delapidated.  Lady Catherine Allen in house.

1901
House empty.  Dudley John Innes Ackland, JP, DL, “being if unsound mind” represented  by R. Ackland (brother?) of Kent in lease of the house to Capt. Reid with shooting rights.  A detailed inventory of house contents includes: Grindstone, birdcage, 2 dog cribs, iron roller, water bucket, wheelbarrow and watering can.  Garden shed with lawn mower (broken).  Farm tenanted by a Mr. Belton.

1907  Death of D.J.Innes Ackland.  Buried in churchyard.

1911  Lease amended to allow Mrs Reid (widow) to remain.  The outside to be painted every five years, the inside every seven years.

1914  Document refers to the “the Trustees of the late D.J.I. Ackland”.  Tenant  of farm (and house?) Belton.

1918  An Ackland killed in WW II - tablet in Uzmaston church includes him.

1921  Estate sold to Kenneth Walker (whisky firm) who arranged to release Mrs Reid from her lease.

1928  Kenneth Walker JP High Sheriff.  Belton also tenants Eastwood farm.

1947   Death of Kenneth Walker after hunting, leaving, according to the present owner, a mountain of whisky bottles just NE of the house where a new garden has been developed.

c1952  Sold to Mr and Mrs Birt Llewellin (Churn Works), a daughter of whom married a farmer and lives in the house.

Ackland pedigree

Major Dudley Ackland (d 1809)  married Jane Innes of Dublin

!

!

Robert  Innes Ackland (d1851)  married  (1817) Caroline Tyler of Cottrell

!

!

(1)
Robert Dudley Ackland married (1847) Elizabeth Mary Lloyd-Philipps of Dale

(2) Emily married an Allen                     !

!

(1)Dudley John (1850-1907)

(2)Robert

(3)Innes Baldwin

(4)Jane

(5)Emily

(6)Lilian

Visit on Monday 22nd July 1996:

Public footpath from public road going east and then south past a small farm with a very large oak and beech, past the more recent but deserted farm buildings just east of the big house, and down a walled lane through woodland to a field gate. This field is the parkland

sloping down to the shore.  On the far (west) side is modern, mostly conifer, planting, and on the east side a row of Monterey pine. In the centre of the park is a specimen oak with a less perfect one lower down towards the shore. The ruined church in its yard is near the shore.

The footpath continues down the edge of the park to the shore. Over the fence to the left (east) are, firstly two large mostly silted ponds with some bamboo evident between them, and secondly  the ruins of the old manor house.  These are impressive and atmospheric. (see Cadw report 1988 for accurate description).  There are walls, arches, vaulted cellars, towers.  Walled enclosures must have included gardens but nothing remains to GH’s eye.

The outer areas are included in the modern conifer plantation.  The water supply (which must have been greater at one time) is a stream from the woods up the slope.

(see sketch p374 Laws)

In the churchyard are memorial stones to the Ackland family - latest death observed 1830. There is an iron-railed plot, writing not today decypherable, with box bushes.  A slab in the church commemorates Lewis Wogan who was married to an Owen of Orielton and died in 1702, the last of the male line. His only child Anne had married John Laugharne of St. Brides in 1698; she died 1715 childless and the estate passed to the Wogans of Gawdy Hall, Norfolk.  There is a stone in the yard to a Collins who was valet and ?  (illegible) to Lord Milford for upwards of 30 years, who was an attached and faithful servant whose death is greatly regretted 

Visit on Thursday 12th June 1977 by agreement with the owners.

The public road from Uzmaston is well wooded. There are large beech, oak and ash near the edge and conifer plantations behind. 

The old rectory (left hand, east side) has mature gardens with fine trees. There are several modern houses, mostly bungalows, on the right hand side.

The public footpath has been diverted to the east a few metres before the gate piers of the property. Within, to the right, is a smart, modernised lodge standing on rather a bare area of grass.

The carriage drive curves to the left through more than 90 degrees to the house.  It is lined almost continuously by Rhododendron ponticum with a substantial number of beech, oak and ash; modern conifer planting behind. The home farm is/was discretely hidden from view.  The original path system would be difficult to trace because of the over planting of conifers. 

The mansion is approached from the west.  The conservatory on the maps does not exist.

The house is quite smartly maintained.

Some trees remain to the north west (marked L on the map).  They include a lime, a sweet chestnut and a horse chestnut.  Most of the older trees south west of the mansion have been felled and replaced by modern conifers with some deciduous screening.  There is a large red-flowered rhododendron opposite the house entrance.

The lane from behind the mansion, eastwards to the walled garden, is lined by somewhat ugly modern farm buildings, mostly semi-ruinous and deserted. A modern kitchen garden has been developed (KG) with glasshouses against the north wall.  The woodland immediately east of the house is a mixture of older trees, sycamore and modern conifers; it was not penetrated on this occasion.

The walled garden is partly surrounded by woodland.  Large plane, ash and oak. Conifers are being cropped (the operation did not seem to progress beyond this time (visit 15.4.2000). Southwest of the garden is a pond and a large wet area.  The whole area is bounded on the north and west by a good low wall with concrete coping - one imagines of this century.

There is an old pump in place near the western tip of the walled garden.  A very small stream runs from this wet area down to the lake/pond system.  The owner states that this was once the only water supply on the 700 acre farm estate and that a tenant farmer destroyed the dams (“blew them up”) worried about static water and disease.

Large oaks along the lane south west of the garden (X) include at least one with very long, large leaves.

Of the features in the RCAMW database:

cd

cons  disappeared

lo     modernised 

p      residual

po   (three)

ri     small stream

wg   partly ruinous

wold   some modern replacement

Documents in file:

Text and notes

OS 25” 1st edition map (3 copies)

Sketch plan of walled garden

Ackland pedigree

Completed WHGT report

RCAMW report on old hall

Western Telegraph 9th August 2000 – County Show Officials inc Mr Kenneth Walker

8 colour photographs of house and surroundings

8 colour photographs of old hall ruins

Colour photograph of church ruin

Western Telegraph  4th September 2002 report of death of Mr WG Thomas (husband of?) owner.

Western Telegraph 29th January 2003  Sale Notice

Sale Brochure  Butler and Sherborn, Burford.  Although the brochure includes the farmland a note is included to the effect that it is not yet for sale. GH understands that parcels of land are owned separately by members of the family.

